1999

# Little Caesar Enterprises, Inc. v. Bell Canyon Shopping Center, L.C. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The court of appeals has jurisdiction of this case, as transferred from the supreme court, pursuant to U.C.A. § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the district court erred by enforcing a lease renewal option in the absence of required mutual agreement on the rental rate for the option period.

Standard of Review: Correction of error in the interpretation of the option contract. *Brown's Shoe Fit Co. v. Olch*, 955 P.2d 357, 362 (Utah App. 1998).

Record Citation: This issue was raised in defendant's motion for summary judgment. (R. 99-103.)

2. Whether the district court erred in permitting extrinsic evidence without any allegation or finding that the lease renewal option was ambiguous.

Standard of Review: Correction of error. *Interwest Construction v. Palmer*, 923 P.2d 1350, 1358-59 (Utah 1996).

Record Citation: This issue was raised in defendant's motion to strike. (R. 216-20.)

## DETERMINATIVE LEGAL PROVISIONS

This case is governed by interpretation of the written lease and renewal option provision, which are set forth in the Addendum, hereafter "Add.," at 7, 29. The second issue is also governed by the statute of frauds, U.C.A. § 25-5-3, which is also set forth verbatim in the Addendum. (Add. 41.)

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a declaratory judgment action to determine the parties' rights under a renewal option provision of a commercial lease. (R. 1-3, 42-45.) The option provision requires that the rental rate for the option period be "mutually agreed upon" by the parties. (R. 29, ¶ 4.) The parties could not reach agreement. (R. 98, ¶ 9; 124, ¶ 4; 31, 161-65.) Defendant moved for summary judgment, arguing that, without agreement on the rental rate, the option is unenforceable. (R. 99-103.) Plaintiff filed a cross-motion for summary judgment, requesting that the district court set the rental rate at the "minimum rent" set forth in the option provision. (R. 121-22.) While both parties argued that the option provision is clear and unambiguous, and the district court made no finding of ambiguity, plaintiff filed a supporting affidavit that provided extrinsic evidence of plaintiff's interpretation of the provision. (R. 129, 166.) Defendant moved to strike the offending paragraphs of this affidavit. (R. 213-20.) The district court denied the motion to strike, denied defendant's motion for summary judgment, and granted plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, ordering that the lease be renewed for the option period at the "minimum rent" set forth in the option provision. (R. 250, 287-90.) Defendant filed this appeal. (R. 292.)

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In December 1992, plaintiff, Little Caesar Enterprises, Inc. ("Little Caesar"), entered into a Shopping Center Lease ("Lease"), as tenant, with Wallace Associates Management as landlord. The purpose of the Lease was for Little Caesar to operate a



pizza shop at the Bell Canyon Shopping Center in Sandy, Utah. Defendant, Bell Canyon Shopping Center, L.C. ("Bell Canyon"), subsequently acquired title to the property and succeeded to the rights and interests of the landlord under the Lease. (Complaint, ¶¶ 1-4, R. 1-2; Lease, R. 7, Add. 7.)

The original term of the Lease was five years, commencing April 1, 1993 and expiring April 1, 1998. The "basic monthly rent" was set at \$1190, with "zero" "percentage rent" based on gross sales during the initial term. The percentage rent provision was marked "Deleted" for purposes of the initial term, but remained part of the Lease. The Lease was actually signed in February and March 1993. (Complaint, ¶ 5, R. 2; Lease pp. 1-2, Add. 7-8.)

At the time of signing the Lease, the parties also signed an "Addendum" to the Lease, providing two five-year options to extend the Lease. The option provision, contained in paragraph 4 of the Lease Addendum, requires the tenant to give written notice of intent to exercise the option. Regarding the rental rate, the provision states that "[t]he Minimum Rent for the first option period shall be at a market rate mutually agreed upon by Tenant and Landlord." Such "Minimum Rent shall not be higher than \$11.00 per square foot." The market rate was to be based on "the then prevailing market rates for similar space in similar shopping centers" in the area. The option provision concluded that "Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree on the market rate within 30 days of Tenant's notification to Landlord that Tenant wishes to exercise an option period." (Lease Addendum, ¶ 4, Add. 29.)

In a letter dated November 25, 1997, Little Caesar notified Bell Canyon of its intent to exercise the first option for five-year extension of the Lease, commencing April 1, 1998. The letter acknowledges that "within thirty (30) days from Tenant providing this notice to Landlord, Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree on the market rate for which the rental rate will be determined." However, the letter also states that "in no event shall the minimum rent be higher than \$11.00 per square foot." The letter concludes, "please contact me immediately so that we can finalize this lease renewal in accordance with the lease terms." (R. 31, Add. 31.)

In a letter dated December 8, 1997, Bell Canyon responded to the foregoing option notice. While expressing satisfaction with Little Caesar's desire to extend the lease, Bell Canyon disputed the apparent "perception that the option provisions [sic] of the lease limits the Basic Monthly Rent to be no higher than \$11.00 per square foot." The Bell Canyon response distinguishes the term "Basic Monthly Rent," as defined in the Lease, from the term "Minimum Rent," as used in the option provision of the Lease Addendum. The response explains that \$11.00 per square foot is "the minimum rent that the Landlord will accept on the exercise of the subject option . . . and that negotiations between Landlord and Tenant start at that floor for the subject 5 year period." The response letter notes that market rates approximate \$19.00 per square foot. The letter concludes, "Please advise in what manner you desire to proceed with negotiations on the option period lease rate." (R. 161, Add. 32.)

On March 16, 1998, Little Caesar sent a reply letter, asserting that "Minimum Rent" and "Basic Monthly Rent" mean the same thing, and that the option provision sets \$11.00 per square foot not as the "minimum rent," but as the "maximum amount" to be charged during the option period. Little Caesar then proposed an amendment to the Lease, setting the option rental rate at \$11.00 per square foot. However, Bell Canyon never agreed to that rental rate and never signed the proposed amendment. (R. 162-65, Add. 33-36.)

Little Caesar commenced this action one week later, seeking a declaratory judgment that the option provision sets a rental rate of \$11.00 per square foot. Little Caesar also sought injunctive relief against eviction. (Complaint, R. 1-6.) Bell Canyon answered and counterclaimed, seeking a declaration that the option provision contains no method of fixing a rental rate without agreement of the parties, and that the provision is therefore unenforceable and the Lease is expired. Bell Canyon also sought an injunction ordering Little Caesar to vacate the premises. (Answer and Counterclaim, R. 37, 42-47.)

Bell Canyon filed a motion for summary judgment, demonstrating under established Utah law that the option provision is void and unenforceable for lack of agreement on the essential term of rental rate, or any mechanism by which the rate can be determined. (R. 92-104.) Little Caesar filed a cross-motion for summary judgment, asserting that the option provision sets the maximum rent at \$11 per square foot, and that the court should order enforcement of the option at that rate. (R. 118-33.) While both parties asserted that the option provision was clear and unambiguous, Little Caesar

submitted the Affidavit of Mark Whittle, who offered his opinion that "Minimum Rent" in the option provision meant the same as "Basic Monthly Rent" in the Lease, and that the \$11 rate was intended as the maximum rent, without any additional percentage rent during the option period. (R. 166, Add. 37.) Bell Canyon moved to strike the affidavit as inadmissible extrinsic evidence because there had been no allegation by the parties or finding by the court that the option provision was ambiguous. (R. 213-20.) The district court denied the motion to strike, denied Bell Canyon's motion for summary judgment, and granted Little Caesar's motion for summary judgment, ordering enforcement of the option at the rental rate of \$11 per square foot. (R. 250, 287, Add. 1-3.)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The lease renewal option is void and unenforceable because it lacks the essential term of rental rate. The option provision expressly required that the rental rate would be the market rate mutually agreed upon by the parties. The parties never agreed upon a market rate. In the absence of required mutual agreement, the district court erred by imposing on the parties a rate of \$11 per square foot, which the option provision designates as the "minimum rent," but which the court erroneously construed as the "maximum rent." Because the parties never agreed on a market rate for the option period, the lease expired of its own terms and cannot be renewed by judicial fiat.

The statute of frauds requires the essential terms of a lease to be in writing. The parol evidence rule precludes a court from considering extrinsic evidence in the interpretation of a contract, unless the contract is first found to be ambiguous without

regard to the extrinsic evidence. A court cannot properly consider extrinsic evidence in deciding whether a contract is ambiguous. The district court erred by considering extrinsic evidence from a Little Caesar affidavit without any finding, or even argument from the parties, that the option provision was ambiguous.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I: THE LEASE RENEWAL OPTION IS VOID AND UNENFORCEABLE BECAUSE THERE IS NO MUTUAL AGREEMENT ON THE RENTAL RATE AND NO DEFINITE MECHANISM FOR THE COURT TO IMPOSE A RATE.**

#### **A. Utah Case Law.**

Utah law is well established that a lease renewal option lacking an agreed rental rate, or a mechanism to determine the rate with certainty, is void and unenforceable. In the leading case of *Pingree v. Continental Group of Utah, Inc.*, 558 P.2d 1317 (Utah 1976), the parties entered a five-year restaurant lease, with two five-year options for renewal. Rental during the initial term was \$500 per month, plus a percentage of gross receipts. The renewal option provided for "the same terms and conditions" as the initial term, "except that the rental amount will be renegotiated; however, maximum total monthly rental shall not exceed \$900.00 per month." *Id.* at 1320. The lessee exercised the option to renew, but "[t]he parties were unable to agree on the rental rate for the renewal period." *Id.* at 1321. The lessor demanded the \$900-maximum, while the lessee offered only \$500. In a declaratory judgment action, the district court found that a "reasonable rental rate" was \$900 per month. *Id.* at 1320-21.

On appeal, the Utah Supreme Court held that the renewal option was void and unenforceable because there was no "meeting of the minds" on the rental rate for the option period. The court cited and adopted the "majority rule," as follows:

The majority rule, in essence, is that a provision for the extension or renewal of a lease must specify the time the lease is to extend *and the rate of rent to be paid with such a degree of certainty and definiteness that nothing is left to future determination*. If it falls short of this requirement, it is not enforceable. [*Id.* at 1321, emp. added.]

The court expressly rejected the "minority rule" by which "the court implies a mutual agreement for a reasonable rental." *Id.* The court concluded that even though the "implied" rental of \$900 was in fact reasonable, *id.* at 1322, "[t]he option to renew was too vague and indefinite to be enforceable and the lease terminated by its own terms" at the end of the initial term. *Id.* at 1321.

This Court expressly followed *Pingree* in the recent case of *Brown's Shoe Fit Co. v. Olch*, 955 P.2d 357 (Utah App. 1998). In *Brown's Shoe*, the lessee entered into a commercial lease for operation of a shoe store. The lease provided for an initial three-year term and two three-year options for renewal. The rental for the initial period and the option periods would be based on a square-foot rate, plus a percentage of "gross-volume" sales. The option provision set a square-foot "minimum" rent for the option periods, but provided that the parties "would agree on the gross volume figure from which to base additional rent during each year" of the option period. The term "gross volume" was not defined. *Id.* at 360.

This Court held that the renewal option was too vague and indefinite to be specifically enforced because, unlike the initial lease, the option left the percentage rental for future agreement of the parties, with no definite mechanism for determining that rental. A renewal option is a mere "agreement to agree" if it omits the material term of rental rate. *Id.* at 362-63. Citing *Pingree*, this Court stated the law as follows:

In Utah, the law is settled that an option to renew a lease is unenforceable unless the rent to be paid, or some mechanism for determining the amount of rent, is specified in the lease. [*Id.* at 364.]

The Court concluded that "the option periods of the [lease] were fatally defective as to price because . . . the option periods included no sufficiently certain 'agreement as to some formula or method for fixing [the rental price].'" *Id.* at 366 (citation omitted).

As this Court observed in *Brown's Shoe*, *id.* at 364, the Utah Supreme Court has twice upheld *Pingree* in the subsequent cases of *Cottonwood Mall Co. v. Sine*, 767 P.2d 499 (Utah 1988), and *Richard Barton Enterprises, Inc. v. Tsern*, 928 P.2d 368 (Utah 1996). In *Sine*, the tenant attempted to enforce an alleged oral agreement to renew a lease for bowling lanes "on reasonable terms." 767 P.2d at 500. The court refused, citing *Pingree* and its "majority rule" that a lease renewal option "must specify . . . the rate of rent to be paid with such a degree of certainty and definiteness that nothing is left to future determination." *Id.* at 502. The *Sine* court was unwilling "to find or make an agreement where the parties had themselves failed." *Id.* The court reasoned:

Courts simply are not equipped to make monetary decisions impacted by the fluctuating commercial world and are even less prepared to *impose paternalistic agreements on litigants*. We therefore conclude that the

written lease terminated by its own terms at its expiration date, was not renewed by the parties, and *cannot be renewed for them by the courts.* [*Id.*, emp. added.]

Similarly, in *Tsern, supra*, the parties to a commercial lease "'agreed in principle' to the 'concept' of a rent abatement," but they never agreed "to the amount of an abatement." 928 P.2d at 372. In a declaratory judgment action, the trial court reduced the rent from \$3,000 to \$2,000 per month, based on the parties' agreement in "concept." *Id.* The supreme court reversed, holding that a court may not supply the essential term of rent amount when the parties themselves had not agreed to a specific amount. *Id.* at 373. The court explained:

Courts may not impose a modification of a lease to which the parties have not agreed and, a fortiori, *may not do so when the parties have explicitly disagreed as to the essential terms* thereof. . . . Modification of such terms as the amount of rent must be agreed upon in a modification of a lease agreement. As Corbin notes, when parties have not agreed on a reasonable price or a method for determining one, "the agreement is too indefinite and uncertain for enforcement." [*Id.*, emp. added.]

The court expressly relied on its holding in *Pingree* that an "option to renew in [a] lease that provided for [the] rental amount to be negotiated but not to exceed [a] specified amount [is] 'too vague and indefinite to be enforceable.'" *Id.* at 374, *quoting Pingree*, 558 P.2d at 1321.

**B. Application to the Present Case.**

Here, the option provision in the Lease Addendum, paragraph 4, does *not* set a rental rate for the option periods. Rather, it expressly requires the rental rate to be set by agreement of the parties, based on then prevailing market rates. Specifically, the option



provision states that "[t]he Minimum Rent for the first option period shall be at a *market rate mutually agreed upon by Tenant and Landlord*. . . . Rent in the second option period shall also be at *market rates*." "Market rates" are specifically defined as "the then prevailing market rates for similar space in similar shopping centers within 5 miles of the Shopping Center." The option provision concludes by again specifically requiring the parties to "*mutually agree on the market rate* within 30 days of" the tenant's notice to exercise the option. (Add. 29.) Thus, like the option provisions in *Pingree and Brown's Shoe*, the rental rate for the option periods was expressly left open for subsequent negotiation and agreement of the parties. The obvious purpose of leaving the rental amount for future option periods open is that market rates fluctuate with the economy and inflation and cannot possibly be predicted with accuracy at the time the initial lease is entered.

The parties never did agree on a rental rate for the option periods. The Little Caesar notice of November 25, 1997 specifically acknowledges the need to "mutually agree on the market rate for which the rental will be determined." The letter requests a future contact "so that we can finalize this lease renewal." (Add. 31.) Obviously, Little Caesar did not believe that the option rental rate had been decided; rather, Little Caesar conceded that the rental needed to be based on a mutually agreed "market rate." Bell Canyon's response of December 8, 1997 reaffirms that the option rental rate must be negotiated by the parties, but suggests a market rate of \$19 per square foot. The letter invites further negotiations. (Add. 32.) Finally, Little Caesar's reply of March 16, 1998

proposes an option rental rate of \$11 per square foot, attaching a proposed amendment to the lease for Bell Canyon to sign. (Add. 33-36.) However, the proposed amendment was never signed, and no agreement was ever reached.

Accordingly, as in *Pingree and Brown's Shoe*, there was no "meeting of the minds" on the rental rate for the option period. Plainly, the rental rate was not set forth in the option provision "with such a degree of certainty and definiteness that nothing [was] left for future determination." *Pingree, supra*, at 1321. The option provision itself and the correspondence of the parties makes nothing more clear than that the rental rate was "left for future determination." As in *Tsern, supra*, not only had the parties not agreed, they had "explicitly disagreed" on the rental rate for the option period. 928 P.2d at 373. In the absence of required agreement between the parties on the rental rate, the district court was not authorized "to impose [its own] paternalistic agreement[] on [the] litigants." *Sine, supra*, 767 P.2d at 502. By so doing, the district court in this case actually followed the "minority rule" that was expressly rejected in *Pingree* and *Sine*. In the absence of any agreement on the "market rate" for rental during the option period, the option cannot be enforced, and the lease expired by its own terms on April 1, 1998. *See Pingree, supra*, at 1321; *Sine, supra*, at 502; *Brown's Shoe, supra*, at 365.

The district court here imposed an option rental of \$11 per square foot based on the sentence in the option provision that says "the Minimum Rent shall not be higher than \$11.00 per square foot." (Add. 29; *see* Order. ¶ 8, Add. 3.) The court reasoned that the term "Minimum Rent," as used in the option provision, is the same as "Basic Monthly

Rent," as used in the Lease. (Order, ¶ 2.) Because the Basic Monthly Rent during the initial term of the lease did not include an added percentage rent, the court concluded that no percentage rent could be added to the Minimum Rent during the option period.

(Order, ¶¶ 3-4.) Therefore, the court concluded that the \$11 rate was not a "Minimum Rent," as that term is commonly understood, but a "maximum rent," or "cap on monthly rent." (Order, ¶ 8.) Because Little Caesar theoretically offered the "maximum rent" specified in the option provision, the court assumed that the parties "agreed" on that rate. (*Id.*)

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