1999

Litle Caesar Enterprises, Inc. v. Bell Canyon Shopping Center, L.C. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The district court correctly determined that the renewal option in the Lease is valid and enforceable and has been properly exercised by Little Caesar. The renewal option sets forth all essential terms, including the amount of rent, for the renewal term, and Little

Caesar, the tenant, has agreed to the maximum rent provided by the formula set forth in the Lease. Bell Canyon's attempted obfuscation of the certainty regarding the amount of rent by suggesting that percentage rent should be added to the rent set forth in the renewal option must fail, because all percentage rent provisions in the Lease were plainly deleted.

Because the renewal option plainly and unambiguously is valid and enforceable, it is not necessary to address whether the district court properly ruled that "[t]o the extent that [Bell Canyon's] interpretation of the Addendum's use of the words 'minimum rent' creates an ambiguity, the Affidavit of Mark Whittle is admissible regarding the parties' intent." Nevertheless, the district court did correctly conclude that the Affidavit of Mark Whittle is admissible to the extent that Bell Canyon's arguments create an ambiguity.

Consequently, if this Court were to determine that the district court erred in concluding that the renewal option plainly and unambiguously is valid and enforceable on account of an ambiguity, the Affidavit of Mark Whittle, which is unrefuted, would eliminate any such ambiguity and render the renewal option valid and enforceable. Accordingly, the district court's Final Order enforcing the renewal provision should be affirmed by this Court.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Correctly Concluded that the Renewal Option in the Lease is Valid and Enforceable and was Properly Exercised by Little Caesar.

Bell Canyon contends that the district court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of Little Caesar because the renewal option found in paragraph 4 of the Addendum is allegedly too vague and indefinite to be enforced. According to Bell

Canyon, the option is too vague because it uses the term “minimum rent” instead of “basic monthly rent,” which is used in the main body of the Lease, and the option language does not specifically address percentage rent. [Appellant Br. 10-15.] When viewed in the context of the plain provisions of the Lease, however, Bell Canyon’s void for vagueness argument is totally without merit.

It is accurate that a contract will not be enforced “unless the obligations of the parties are ‘set forth with sufficient definiteness that it can be performed.’” Ferris v. Jennings, 595 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1979). A lease contract, however, “is not fatally defective as to price if there is an agreement as to some formula or method for fixing [rent].” Id. With respect to rent, all that is required for an option to be enforceable is that the rate of rent be set forth with a degree of certainty that leaves nothing to future determination. Cottonwood Mall Co. v. Sine, 767 P.2d 499, 502 (Utah 1988). The Lease satisfies these requirements.

1. The term “Minimum Rent” is used interchangeably with “Basic Monthly Rent” and is clearly and unambiguously capped at \$11 per square foot during the first option period.

It is well-established that contracts should be construed to make sense, rather than be inconsistent, and interpretations which avoid invalidating a contract are favored under Utah law. Coulter & Smith. Ltd. v. Russell, 966 P.2d 852, 854 (Utah 1998); Hofmann v. Sullivan, 599 P.2d 505, 507 (Utah 1979). Thus, the district court was required to interpret the Lease as a whole and to attempt to give effect to the intent of the parties and not render the Lease absurd. See Nielsen v. O’Rielly, 848 P.2d 664, 665 (Utah 1992).

Bell Canyon's arguments regarding the Lease violate these key rules of contract interpretation. First, it is patently absurd to interpret the words "minimum rent" in paragraph 4 of the Addendum to mean something different than the same words in the immediately preceding paragraph. The term "minimum rent" clearly refers to and is used interchangeably with the term "basic monthly rent," which is defined in paragraph 1 of the Lease. Paragraph 3 of the Addendum to the Lease provides: "Tenant's minimum rent payable for the remainder of the existing Lease term shall be reduced as of January 1, 1993, from \$1,350.65 to \$1,190.00 per month." [R. 29.] There can be no question that this use of the term "minimum rent" refers to the basic monthly rent because the basic monthly rent being paid by Little Caesar on execution of the Lease was \$1,190. Indeed, paragraph 1 of the Lease defines "basic monthly rent" as the amount of \$1,190 paid per calendar month. [R. 7.] There is nothing to suggest that the use of the term "minimum rent" in paragraph 4 of the Addendum defining the monthly rent for the option period was intended to refer to something different than had been referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph. Consequently, Bell Canyon's assertion that the terms "minimum rent" and "basic monthly rent" are not synonymous is absurd.¹ Second, Bell Canyon's arguments, if accepted, would invalidate the Lease. For these reasons, the district court

¹Bell Canyon acknowledges in its brief the absurdity of its own argument. At page 13 of its brief, Bell Canyon states: "Minimum rent in commercial leases is commonly understood to mean the base or guaranteed rent to which a percentage rent may be added." [Appellant's Br. 13.] Consequently, there can be no question that "minimum rent" and "basic monthly rent" mean the same thing.

correctly concluded that “[t]he term ‘minimum rent’ is used in the Addendum to refer to the monthly rent defined in the body of the Lease as ‘basic monthly rent.’” [R. 288.]

Paragraph 4 of the Addendum specifies that the monthly rent during the first option period “shall be at a market rate mutually agreed upon by Tenant and Landlord,” but “shall not be higher than \$11.00 per square foot.” The language further states that “[m]arket rates shall be at the then prevailing market rates for similar space in similar shopping centers within 5 miles of the Shopping Center.” This language does not invalidate the option because it sets forth a specific formula or method for fixing the rent during the option period, clearly and unequivocally providing, “In the first option period, the Minimum Rent shall not be higher than \$11.00 per square foot.” More importantly, Little Caesar has agreed to pay \$11 per square foot, the maximum amount provided for in the Addendum.

There can be no ambiguity or uncertainty regarding the amount of rent during the first option period since Little Caesar has accepted the rate of \$11.00 per square foot. That is the cap on rent during the first renewal period that the landlord agreed to at the time the Lease was executed. Under Utah law, it is well established that there is an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in every contract. See Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 812 P.2d 49, 55 (Utah 1991). “Under the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, each party impliedly promises that he will not intentionally or purposely do anything which will destroy or injure the other party’s right to receive the fruits of the contract.” St. Benedict’s Development Co. v. St. Benedict’s Hosp., 811 P.2d 194, 199

(Utah 1991). Little Caesar, as tenant, negotiated a renewal provision with the landlord establishing an \$11.00 per square foot cap on rent during the first renewal period. Little Caesar would be deprived of the fruits of the contract if Bell Canyon were permitted to act in bad faith and disavow its agreement to the cap. Thus, Bell Canyon's argument that the renewal option is unenforceable because it never agreed to the "market rate" is without merit. Accordingly, the district court correctly (a) rejected Bell Canyon's argument that the option is enforceable only if Bell Canyon had agreed upon the market rate for the rent and (b) concluded that the option is enforceable as a matter of law at the \$11 per square foot maximum amount set forth in the Addendum.

2. The Lease clearly and unambiguously deletes the percentage rent provisions.

Bell Canyon's contention that the rent for the option period is fatally vague because it fails to state what additional or "percentage rent" applies, is likewise misplaced. According to Bell Canyon, the option is unenforceable because the Lease does not provide a formula or mechanism for calculating percentage rent.

It is true that tenants in a shopping center often pay a percentage rent based on sales in addition to the minimum monthly rent. See generally annot. Rent Due Under Commercial Percentage Lease, 58 A.L.R. 3d 384, 398 n.53 (1974) (the most commonly used type of percentage lease is "one with a guaranteed minimum rental plus additional rental based upon a stated percentage of gross sales.")). The lease form used in this instance is designed to permit a percentage rent component to be added to the minimum or basic monthly rent. The percentage rent provisions, however, do not apply because

they were intentionally and unambiguously deleted from the Lease. The definition of “percentage rent” found in paragraph 1 of the Lease states that the percentage rent is zero percent. [R.7.] Moreover, the parties’ clear intent that percentage rent would not apply to the Lease is graphically shown by the rent provisions in paragraph 4 of the Lease, which provides in its entirety:

4. Rent.

4.1 Basic Monthly Rent. Tenant covenants to pay to Landlord without abatement, deduction, offset, prior notice or demand the Basic Monthly Rent in lawful money of the United States in consecutive monthly installments at such place as Landlord may designate, in advance on or before the first day of each calendar month during the Term, commencing on the Commencement Date. If the Commencement Date occurs on a day other than the first day of a calendar month, on the Commence date [sic] the Basic Monthly Rent shall be paid for the initial fractional calendar month prorated on a per-diem basis and for the first full calendar month occurring after the Commencement Date. If this Lease expires or terminates on a day other than the last day of a calendar month, the Basic Monthly Rent for such fractional month shall be prorated on a daily basis.

4.2 Consumer Price Index Escalation. Deleted

4.2.1 Escalation. Deleted

4.2.2 Index. Deleted

4.3 Percentage Rent. Deleted

4.3.1 Calculation and Payment of Percentage Rent. Deleted

4.3.2 Definition of Gross Sales. Deleted

4.3.3 Deductions and Exclusions From Gross Sales. Deleted

4.3.4 Recordkeeping. Deleted

4.3.5 Landlord’s Right to Audit. Deleted

[R. 8.]

Ignoring the parties' clear intent that percentage rent not apply to the Lease, Bell Canyon persists in its argument that percentage rent could apply to the rent during the renewal term. [Appellant Br. 13-14.] Bell Canyon's argument ignores the fact that it has long been established under Utah law that "[w]here the covenant for a renewal is general and does not state the terms of the renewal lease, the new lease is to be upon the same general terms and conditions as the old lease, which are applicable to the renewal period." Cummings v. Rytting, 207 P.2d 804, 805-06 (Utah 1949). In the instant case, the renewal provision in the Addendum does not indicate that the renewal term would be on any different terms than the initial Lease term, except that the monthly rent is increased to no more than \$11.00 per square foot.² Because percentage rent was deleted from the Lease, the district court correctly ruled that it does not apply during the renewal term.

3. Bell Canyon's reliance on the holdings in *Brown's Shoe* and *Pingree* is misplaced.

Bell Canyon erroneously contends that the decision in Brown's Shoe Fit Co. v. Olch, 955 P.2d 357 (Utah App. 1998), renders unenforceable the extension option in this case. In Brown's Shoe, the parties had signed a one page document entitled "Basic Lease

² Thus, it is absurd at best for Bell Canyon to rely upon Brown's Shoe Fit Co. v. Olch, 955 P.2d 357, 364 (Utah App. 1998), to argue that the renewal option is unenforceable because no percentage rent provisions were set forth in the renewal provision. [See Appellant Br. 13.] Unlike the lease provisions at issue in Brown's Shoe, there can be no serious argument in the present case that the Lease provides for percentage rent during the renewal term but failed to provide the details for calculating such rent.

Provisions,” which the court concluded was too vague and indefinite to be specifically enforced. The court concluded that the “Basic Lease Provisions” were nothing more than an agreement to agree:

The BLP, on its face, is an agreement to agree. The first paragraph states that the terms within the BLP are “to be incorporated into a final lease document executed by both parties.” Additionally, the BLP did not specify the percentage rental that Brown’s Shoe would have to pay during the option periods or any mechanism for determining that rental amount. The rental amount that Brown’s Shoe would pay during the option periods was left for future agreement—a sort of agreement to agree within an agreement to agree.

Id. at 362. The “Basic Lease Provisions” provided that prior to the beginning of each of the three option periods, the parties “would agree on the gross volume figure from which to base additional rent during each year” of the option period. Id. at 359. Because the gross volumes were not defined and there was no mechanism provided by the lease to establish the gross volume, the court determined that the document was unenforceable. In doing so, the court reaffirmed the standard established by the Utah Supreme Court in Pingree v. Continental Group of Utah Inc., 558 P.2d 1317 (Utah 1976), Cottonwood Mall Co. v. Sine, 767 P.2d 499 (Utah 1998), and Richard Barton Enterprises, Inc. v. Tsern, 928 P.2d 368 (Utah 1996). In each of those cases, the Utah Supreme Court held that:

The majority rule, in essence, is that a provision for the extension or renewal of a lease must specify the time the lease is to extend and the rate of rent to be paid with such a degree of certainty and definiteness that nothing is left to future determination.

Brown’s Shoe, 955 P.2d at 363 (quoting Pingree, 558 P.2d at 1321). This standard is met in the instant case. The lease Addendum specifies the option period: “Tenant shall have

two (2) options to extend this Lease for a period of five (5) years for each option. [R. 29.]

A mechanism for determination of the rent is also stated: “the Minimum Rent for the first option period shall be at a market rate In the first option period, the Minimum Rent shall not be higher than \$11 per square foot.” As discussed above, “minimum rent” plainly refers to the “basic monthly rent” or base rent under the Lease. There can be no question or uncertainty regarding the amount of the base rent during the first option period because defendant has accepted the stated rate of \$11 per square foot. The notion that this case is anything like Brown’s Shoe where no mechanism was specified for the determination of percentage rent, is obviously without merit. As established above, the provisions relating to percentage rent were deleted. There is nothing in the language of the lease or the Addendum that would support an argument that percentage rent would apply at all. Consequently, the Brown’s Shoe decision has no application and certainly does not render unenforceable the option provision negotiated by the parties as an integral part of the Lease.

Bell Canyon’s reliance on Pingree v. Continental Group of Utah, Inc., 558 P.2d 1317 (Utah 1976), is equally misplaced. In Pingree, the Utah Supreme Court held unenforceable a lease renewal provision that required the parties to renegotiate the rent but which had a cap on the renewal rent. The Pingree decision, however, is easily distinguishable from the facts in the instant case. The lessor in Pingree demanded that the new rental rate be the \$900.00 per month cap. The tenant on the other hand was willing to pay only \$500.00 per month. Because the parties were unable to agree, the Utah

Supreme Court concluded that it was reversible error for the trial court to set the rental rate during the renewal period at \$900.00 per month. In stark contrast to the Pingree case, Little Caesar has agreed to pay the maximum amount that Bell Canyon could require. Consequently, there is no need for the district court to review any factors or to create an agreement where none previously existed. The district court merely enforced the agreement between the parties to have the rent for the renewal term equal the maximum amount permitted under the Lease. The covenant of good faith and fair dealing does not permit Bell Canyon to refuse to agree to the maximum amount of rent that it was entitled to receive under the Lease. Therefore, the district court correctly ruled that the renewal provision in the Lease was plain and enforceable in accordance with its terms and that Little Caesar properly exercised the renewal option for an additional five-year term at the \$11.00 per square foot maximum amount of rent.

B. The District Court Correctly Exercised its Discretion in Denying Bell Canyon's Motion to Strike Portions of the Affidavit of Mark Whittle.

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